IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

ALBERT GOBLE,

Plaintiff/Petitioner,

vs. CASE NO.: SC03-1245

MARK E. FROHMAN,

Defendant/Respondent.

ON A CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

INITIAL BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF/PETITIONER

THEODORE E. KARATINOS, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 983209

TIMOTHY F. PRUGH, ESQ.

Florida Bar No. 138714

PRUGH, HOLLIDAY, DEEM

& KARATINOS, P.L.

1009 W. Platt Street

Tampa, Florida 33606

Tel: (813) 251-3548

Fax: (813) 251-5809

AMY S. FARRIOR, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 684147

RAYMOND T. ELLIGETT, JR., ESQ.

Florida Bar No. 261939

CHARLES P. SCHROPP, ESQ.

Florida Bar No. 206881

SCHROPP, BUELL & ELLIGETT, P.A.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Plaintiff/Petitioner, Albert Goble, refers to himself as "Plaintiff," his capacity in the trial court.

Plaintiff refers to Defendant/Respondent, Mark E. Frohman, as "Defendant," his capacity in the trial court.

Plaintiff designates references to the record on appeal by the prefix "R" followed by volume and page number. References to the trial transcript contain the additional prefix "T" prior to the page number.

Plaintiff designates references to Defendant's Answer Brief in the Second District by the prefix "AB."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Plaintiff sued Defendant for serious injuries sustained in a motor vehicle accident (R V1/29-32). As a result of the accident, Plaintiff required 13 surgeries and incurred \$574,554.31 in medical bills (R V1/163; V6/T26). Evidence was presented that the amount of these bills was reasonable (R V5/903, 936-941).

Plaintiff's medical bills were submitted for payment to Aetna U.S. Healthcare ("Aetna"), a health maintenance organization ("HMO") of which Plaintiff was a member. The amounts actually paid by Aetna were determined by contractual agreements between Aetna and Plaintiff's healthcare providers (R V2/374). These healthcare providers accepted \$145,970.76 in payment from Aetna in full satisfaction of all services rendered to Plaintiff -- a \$428,583.55 reduction from the amounts billed (R V2/373). Pursuant to their contracts with Aetna, the healthcare providers agreed they would have no recourse against Plaintiff or other third party for the difference between the total amount charged and the actual payments made by Aetna (R V2/374). Aetna's right of subrogation, however, remains (R V2/373-374).

At trial, the jury returned a verdict in Plaintiff's favor, which included an award for past medical expenses in the amount of \$574,554.31 (R V1/163).¹ Defendant moved to reduce this award to reflect the amount actually paid by Aetna, plus the \$15,000.00 Plaintiff paid in co-payments and the \$7,012.95 Plaintiff paid in insurance premiums from the date of the accident until the date of trial (R V2/218-220). The trial court granted Defendant's motion and entered an order reducing the jury's award for past medical expenses to \$167,983.71, a reduction of \$406,550.60 (R V2/221-222).

The trial court entered Final Judgment against Defendant in the reduced amount (R V2/223). Plaintiff appealed that Final Judgment to the Second District Court of Appeal.

In its opinion, the Second District affirmed the trial court's reduction of the jury's award for past medical expenses from the full amount billed for these expenses to the amount actually paid by Aetna. *Goble v. Frohman*, 848 So. 2d 406 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003). The court acknowledged Supreme Court precedent mandates a narrow construction of § 768.76, as a statute that is in derogation of the common law; however, it suggested the statute should be liberally construed because it is also

Defendant's Motion to Set Off Jury Award of Past Medical Expenses incorrectly stated the jury had awarded Plaintiff past medical expenses of \$574,768.00 (R V2/218).

remedial in nature. *Id.*, at 408. On the merits, the court reasoned that because the remittance of the discounted amount discharged Plaintiff's obligation to his medical providers, the discount itself constitutes a "payment made" on Plaintiff's behalf and is, therefore, a collateral source subject to setoff. *Id.*, at 409.

The court recognized this case presents an issue of great public importance and certified the following question to this Court:

UNDER SECTION 768.76, FLORIDA STATUTES (1999), IS IT APPROPRIATE TO SETOFF AGAINST THE DAMAGES PORTION OF AN AWARD THE AMOUNTS OF REASONABLE AND NECESSARY MEDICAL BILLS THAT WERE WRITTEN OFF BY MEDICAL PROVIDERS PURSUANT TO THEIR CONTRACTS WITH A HEALTH MAINTENANCE ORGANIZATION?

Id., at 410.

CERTIFIED QUESTION

UNDER SECTION 768.76, FLORIDA STATUTES (1999), IS IT APPROPRIATE TO SETOFF AGAINST THE DAMAGES PORTION OF AN AWARD THE AMOUNTS OF REASONABLE AND NECESSARY MEDICAL BILLS THAT WERE WRITTEN OFF BY MEDICAL PROVIDERS PURSUANT TO THEIR CONTRACTS WITH A HEALTH MAINTENANCE ORGANIZATION?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The amount of write-offs to Plaintiff's healthcare providers' customary charges for services rendered to Plaintiff pursuant to the healthcare providers' contracts with Plaintiff's HMO are not within the statutory definition of "collateral sources" and, therefore, may not be used to offset a plaintiff's damage award under the collateral source statute.

The collateral source statute defines "collateral sources" as "any **payments** made" to or on behalf of the claimant pursuant to "any contract or agreement of any group, organization, partnership, or corporation to provide, pay for, or reimburse the costs of hospital, medical dental or other health care services." The plain meaning of the "collateral sources" definition cannot encompass the amounts Plaintiff's healthcare providers discounted from their medical bills.

First, these discounts or write-offs are not "payments made." At most, they are payments that are not required to be made. Second, the plain language of the statutory definition requires that "collateral sources" must be payments made **to** the healthcare provider, not **by** the healthcare provider. Because Plaintiff's healthcare

providers are the ones who provided the discounts or write-offs, those discounts or write-offs do not meet the statutory definition.

The statute has defined "collateral sources" in clear, unambiguous terms, and that definition says nothing about discounted or written-off charges. This Court has made it clear that Florida courts do not have the authority to rewrite statutes to mirror what a court presumes the Legislature actually intended, rather than what it actually said. Should the Legislature decide it wants to include discounts or write-offs within the definition of "collateral sources," the Legislature -- not the courts -- must amend the statute.

There is an independent reason why the healthcare providers' discounts or write-offs cannot be setoff under the collateral source statute. The statute provides that reduction for collateral sources "shall be offset to the extent of any amount which has been paid, contributed, or forfeited by, or on behalf of, the claimant . . . to secure his right to any collateral source benefit which the claimant is receiving as a result of his or her injury."

Plaintiff contributed more than his premium payments and co-payments. In order to obtain discounted care through his HMO, he agreed to restrict his freedom to select his own healthcare providers and potentially his treatment options as well. The Second District's interpretation of the collateral source statute fails to implement

express legislative intent by failing to compensate the Plaintiff for his significant non-monetary contribution to securing the discounts or write-offs. Ironically, this creates the windfall the Second District sought to avoid, but for the Defendant, not the Plaintiff.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issue before this Court is the proper interpretation of § 768.76(1), Florida Statutes (1999). A question of statutory construction, like other questions of law, is reviewed *de novo* by this Court. *See City of Gainesville v. State*, 28 Fla. L. Weekly S665 (Fla. September 4, 2003); *Armstrong v. Harris*, 773 So. 2d 7 (Fla. 2000). *See also Jackson County Hospital Corporation v. Aldrich*, 835 So. 2d 318 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002), *review granted by Bay Anesthesia, Inc. v. Aldrich*, 847 So. 2d 975 (Fla. 2003) (appellate court reviews trial court's interpretation of statute under *de novo* standard).

ARGUMENT

REDUCTIONS IN THE CHARGES MADE BY PLAINTIFF'S **HEALTHCARE PROVIDERS PURSUANT** TO THE PROVIDERS' CONTRACTUAL **OBLIGATIONS** TOPLAINTIFF'S HEALTH MAINTENANCE ORGANIZATION DO NOT MEET THE STATUTORY **DEFINITION OF** COLLATERAL SOURCES AND MAY NOT BE USED TO OFFSET A PLAINTIFF'S DAMAGE AWARD.

The certified question presented in this appeal arises from the trial court's reduction of the jury's award of past medical expenses to Plaintiff by the amount of write-offs to Plaintiff's healthcare providers' customary charges for the services rendered to Plaintiff pursuant to the healthcare providers' contracts with Plaintiff's HMO. Plaintiff appealed from the final judgment, arguing that such contractual write-offs are not within the statutory definition of "collateral sources" and, therefore, may not be used to offset a plaintiff's damage award under the collateral source statute. See § 768.76, Florida Statutes (1999). The Second District Court of Appeal affirmed

the final judgment, but certified the question to this Court as one of great public importance.²

768.76 Collateral sources of indemnity. --

- (1) In any action to which this part applies in which liability is admitted or is determined by the trier of fact and in which damages are awarded to compensate the claimant for losses sustained, the court shall reduce the amount of such award by the total of all amounts which have been paid for the benefit of the claimant, or which are otherwise available to the claimant, from all collateral sources; however, there shall be no reduction for collateral sources for which a subrogation or reimbursement right exists. Such reduction shall be offset to the extent of any amount which has been paid, contributed, or forfeited by, or on behalf of, the claimant or members of the claimant's immediate family to secure her or his right to any collateral source benefit which the claimant is receiving as a result of her or his injury.
- (2) For purposes of this section:
- (a) "Collateral sources" means any payments made to the claimant, or made on the claimant's behalf, by or pursuant to:

* * *

(3) Any contract or agreement of any group, organization, partnership, or corporation to provide, pay for, or reimburse the costs of hospital, medical, dental or other health care services.

§ 768.76(1), 2(a)(3).

² In relevant part, § 768.76, Florida Statutes (1999), provides as follows:

A. The Certified Question Presented in this Appeal is One of Great Public Importance.

The Second District's certified question is a question of statutory construction that will affect a significant number of pending and future personal injury cases in this state. Because of the popularity of HMO's, a large percentage of personal injury cases involve or will involve plaintiffs insured under this type of health insurance.

A determination by this Court that an injured but insured plaintiff is no longer entitled to recover the reasonable value of his past medical expenses, but only the amount actually paid by the HMO for these services, will affect the amount of recovery in virtually every personal injury case involving a plaintiff insured under an HMO. It will also negatively impact the settlement process in these cases by encouraging liability insurers to delay settlement as long as possible, thereby enabling more of an injured plaintiff's medical bills to fall into the category of past medical expenses, which the defendant would be permitted to pay only on a discounted basis, rather than future expenses which must be paid at full present value.³

³ The importance of this issue is further evidenced by the requests to file amicus briefs by the Florida Defense Lawyers' Association and the Academy of Florida Trial Lawyers.

B. A Healthcare Provider's Contractual Write-Offs or Discounts Do Not Fit Within the Plain Meaning of the Statutory Definition of "Collateral Sources."

The threshold question presented by this appeal is whether a healthcare provider's contractual write-offs or discounts fit within the plain meaning of the statutory definition of "collateral sources" set forth in § 768.76. The statute defines "collateral sources," in relevant part, to mean ". . . any payments made to the claimant, or made on the claimant's behalf, by or pursuant to: . . . (3) Any contract or agreement of any group, organization, partnership, or corporation to provide, pay for, or reimburse the costs of hospital, medical, dental or other health care services. . . ." § 768.76(2)(a)(3), Florida Statutes (1999) (emphasis added). Thus, the term "payments made" would have to encompass the amounts discounted or written off by healthcare providers pursuant to their HMO contracts in order for them to be "collateral sources."

"[W]hen the language of the statute is clear and unambiguous and conveys a clear and definite meaning, there is no occasion for resorting to the rules of statutory interpretation and construction; the statute must be given its plain and obvious meaning." *Rollins v. Pizzarelli*, 761 So. 2d 294, 297 (Fla. 2000)(quoting *Holly v. Auld*, 450 So. 2d 217 (Fla. 1984)). A statutory term is ambiguous only if reasonable persons can find different meanings in the same language. *See Id.*, at 297.

The plain meaning of "collateral sources" as defined in § 768.76 cannot encompass the amounts Plaintiff's healthcare providers discounted from their medical bills for two reasons. First, these contractual discounts are not "payments made." At most, they are payments **not** made or, more precisely, payments not required to be made. Because these discounts are not "collateral sources," they cannot reduce the jury's award pursuant to a statute that permits reductions "by the total of all amounts which have been paid for the benefit of the claimant, or which are otherwise available to the claimant, **from all collateral sources**" § 768.76(1)(emphasis added).⁴

Second, the subsection of the "collateral sources" definition that encompasses HMOs further limited the scope of "payments made" to those "payments made to the claimant or on the claimant's behalf, by or pursuant to: . . . 3. Any contract or agreement of any group, organization, partnership, or corporation **to provide**, **pay for or reimburse the costs of hospital**, **medical**, **dental or other health care services**." § 768.76(2)(a)(3) (emphasis added). In other words, "collateral sources"

⁴ Although the Second District determined the statutory definition of "collateral sources" found in § 768.76(2)(a)(3) is the relevant provision for an HMO such as Aetna, the same rationale regarding "payments made" applies to all subsections of the definition, including § 768.76(2)(a)(2), which encompasses other types of healthcare plans.

must be "payments made" **to** the healthcare provider, not **by** the healthcare provider.⁵

Because Plaintiff's healthcare providers are the ones who provided the discounts or write-offs, those discounts or write-offs do not satisfy the plain meaning of the statutory definition of "collateral sources."

The statute has defined "collateral sources" in clear, unambiguous terms, and that definition says nothing about discounted or written-off charges. This is the analytical framework utilized by this Court in *Chester v. Doig*, 842 So. 2d 106 (Fla. 2003), to examine the issue of statutory set-offs and collateral source definitions in the context of the arbitration provisions of the Medical Malpractice Act. *Chester* addressed whether an arbitration award made pursuant to § 766.207(7), Florida Statutes (1997), should be set off (reduced) by the amount of a prior settlement. *Id.*, at 107.

The Fifth District had reversed the arbitration panel's decision not to set off the settlement amount from the arbitration award, holding it was error for the panel not to consider Florida's setoff statutes. Specifically, the Fifth District found that by refusing to consider the setoff statutes, the arbitration panel had "ignored the intent of the Legislature to prevent double recovery." *Id.*, at 108. This Court, however,

⁵ Plaintiff's healthcare providers agreed to provide healthcare, not the costs of healthcare.

disagreed that a desire to implement presumed legislative intent gave the Court the authority to read words into otherwise plain statutory language. *Id.*

The plain language of section 766.207(7)(a) and (c) clearly provides that the only set off available in a medical malpractice arbitration is for collateral sources as defined by section 766.202(2). Because the settlement award in this case does not meet the definition of a collateral source or a collateral source payment, the Fifth District erred in concluding that the settlement award should be set off against the arbitration award. . . . If the Legislature intended for Florida's setoff statutes to control the elements of damages available in medical malpractice arbitration, it could have specifically provided for the application of those statutes in the Medical Malpractice Act. . . . Because the Legislature has not done so, we conclude the arbitration award should not be set off by the settlement award in this case.

Id., at 109 (emphasis added, footnotes omitted).

The Second District's misconstruction of § 768.76 evidences similar concern regarding the Legislature's intent to prevent over compensation of the injured party. *Goble*, 848 So. 2d at 410. This Court, however, has made clear that courts do not have authority to rewrite statutes to mirror what a court presumes the Legislature actually intended rather than what it actually said. The definition of "collateral sources" in § 768.76 refers only to "payments made" and makes no reference to contractual discounts or write-offs as "collateral sources." Should the Legislature decide it wants to include these items within that definition, the Legislature -- not the courts -- must amend the statute.

This is also the conclusion recently reached by Connecticut courts in interpreting that state's collateral source statute -- a statute patterned after Florida's statute that defines "collateral sources" using the identical "payments made" language.6 See Conn. Gen. Stat. § 52.225b (2003); Schroeder v. Triangulum Associates, 259 Conn. 325, 343-344; 789 A.2d 459, 471 (Conn. Super. 2002)(§ 52.225b enacted as part of Connecticut's tort reform legislation and modeled after Florida's statutory definition of collateral sources; comparison of the two statutes shows Connecticut's statute is taken nearly verbatim from its Florida counterpart).

Hecht v. Staskiewicz, 2002 WL 442319 (Conn. Super. 2002), addresses whether amounts written off by medical providers constitute collateral source payments, as defined in § 52-225b, which would entitle the defendant to a reduction in the amount of economic damages awarded to the plaintiff. After examining the precise language that is before the Court in this case, the Connecticut court held:

The legislative [sic] has defined in clear unambiguous language those payments that it considers a collateral source. The statute does not define a decision by a medical provider to "write-off" any balance due from the plaintiff as a collateral source payment.

⁶ The Connecticut statute defines "collateral sources" to mean "any **payments made** to the claimant, or on his behalf, by or pursuant to" a list of sources set out in the statute, including "any health or sickness insurance." Conn. Gen. Stat. § 52.225b (emphasis added).

Id., at *2.

Sackman v. Sullivan, 2002 WL 31374777 (Conn.Super. 2002), reaches the same conclusion, even though the patient was not responsible for paying the difference. The healthcare provider (a hospital) in that case submitted a full bill to Medicare but was required to accept a lower payment as full satisfaction of the entire amount of the patient's bill. Citing *Hecht*, the court held:

Fundamental principles of statutory construction preclude Medicare write offs as falling within the collateral source payment statute. In the absence of an applicable statute specifically addressing Medicare write offs, the common law applies. Our common-law principle is that a tortfeasor may not benefit, and an injured plaintiff's tort recovery may not be diminished because of benefits received by the plaintiff from independent sources.

Id. See also Garbatini v. Allstate Insurance Company, 34 Conn. L. Rptr. 346, 2003 WL 1874707 (Conn. Super. 2003)("By statutory definition collateral sources do not include the forgiveness or writing off of charges for medical care by their providers.")

C. This Court has Mandated a Narrow Construction of the Collateral Source Statute.

Plaintiff submits that healthcare provider discounts and write-offs plainly and unambiguously are not "payments made." However, to the extent the language of the collateral source statute may be considered ambiguous, this Court has specifically mandated a narrow construction of this act:

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