IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

ALBERT GOBLE,

Plaintiff/Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. SC03-1245

MARK E. FROHMAN,

Defendant/Respondent.

ON A CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

ANSWER BRIEF OF DEFENDANT/RESPONDENT

DANIEL P. MITCHELL, ESQUIRE

FLORIDA BAR NO.: 302937 GRAY, HARRIS & ROBINSON, P.A. 201 North Franklin Street, Suite 2200 Post Office Box 3324 TAMPA, FLORIDA 33601-3324 (813) 273-5100 FACSIMILE: (813) 273-5145 Attorneys for Defendant/Respondent, MARK E. FROHMAN

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Defendant/Respondent, Mark E. Frohman, will refer to himself as "Defendant," the capacity that he occupied in the trial court. He will refer to Plaintiff/Petitioner, Albert Goble, as "Plaintiff," his capacity in the trial court. References to Goble's Initial Brief in this Court will be designated as "Petitioner's Brief" and the page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Defendant accepts Plaintiff's Statement of the Case and Facts (Petitioner's Brief at 2-4) as accurate. Defendant would emphasize, however, that it is undisputed that the contracts with Aetna, Plaintiff's HMO carrier, were in effect before Plaintiff received any treatment for his accident-related injuries, and that those contracts required Plaintiff's health care providers to accept discounted rates in satisfaction of their claims for services. Further, Aetna's subrogation right was limited to the \$145,970.76 billed by the providers under the contracts.

CERTIFIED QUESTION

UNDER SECTION 768.76, *FLORIDA STATUTES* (1999), IS IT APPROPRIATE TO SETOFF AGAINST THE DAMAGES PORTION OF AN AWARD THE AMOUNTS OF REASONABLE AND NECESSARY MEDICAL BILLS THAT WERE WRITTEN OFF BY MEDICAL PROVIDERS PURSUANT TO THEIR CONTRACTS WITH A HEALTH MAINTENANCE ORGANIZATION?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The contractual adjustments made by Plaintiff's health care providers pursuant to their agreements with Aetna, Plaintiff's HMO, are as much "payments," within the meaning of Section 768.76, *Florida Statutes*, as if there had been an actual transfer of cash. Cases from common-law collateral source rule jurisdictions that do not have statutes similar to Section 768.76 recognize such adjustments, write-downs, or write-offs as forms of compensation, benefits, or indemnity from collateral sources of recovery. Personal injury claimants were never liable for these adjustments, nor were the third-party payors ever subrogated as to the written-down amounts. Therefore, under a statutory scheme like Florida's, a tort defendant should be entitled to a credit for them against the amount a plaintiff's tort recovery.

Section 768.76 was a part of the 1986 Tort Reform and Insurance Act, which was clearly intended by the Legislature as a remedial measure. As such, even though it is in derogation of the common law, it should still be liberally construed to give effect to the Legislature's express intent, which was to enhance the availability and affordability of liability insurance, and to reform the tort system. The Second District's construction of the statute so as to include the adjustments as forms of payment by collateral sources gave effect to that clear legislative intent.

-4-

Either the adjustments were payments by collateral sources or they were not. If they were, then Defendant ought to get a credit for them against Plaintiff's tort recovery under the statute, because there was no right of subrogation or reimbursement on Aetna's behalf. If they were not, then Plaintiff should have no right to recover for them, because as he was never responsible for them, they were not damages incurred by Plaintiff as the result of Defendant's negligence.

The adjustments did not spring from any legally cognizable non-monetary contribution by Plaintiff. The amorphous concept of "loss of freedom of choice" by participation in an HMO lacks sufficient concreteness to allow for an offset against the collateral source payments. Although it is probably widely assumed that HMO premiums are less than premiums for other forms of insurance coverage, plaintiff elected not to adduce evidence of any premium difference before the trial court. It cannot be known whether there was in fact a premium difference, and if so, how much it may have been, so as to permit it to be claimed as an offset against the collateral source payments. The argument that allowing Plaintiff to recover the \$428,583 in adjustments would help to make him whole by offsetting his contingent attorney fee is simply an attempt to disguise the unquestioned windfall to him as well as to his attorney in the sheep's clothing of full compensation. Further, it is tantamount to awarding him attorneys' fees in an action where fees are not recoverable.

-5-

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Defendant agrees with Plaintiff that the appropriate standard of review is *de novo*.

ARGUMENT

MADE **REDUCTIONS IN** CHARGES BY **PLAINTIFF'S** HEALTHCARE **PROVIDERS PURSUANT** TO THE CONTRACTUAL **PROVIDERS' OBLIGATIONS** TO PLAINTIFF'S HEALTH MAINTENANCE ORGANIZATION MEET THE STATUTORY DEFINITION OF COLLATERAL SOURCES AND MAY BE USED TO OFFSET A PLAINTIFF'S DAMAGE AWARD.

The Second District Court of Appeal made two holdings. First, it held that

Section 768.76, Florida Statutes (1999), was remedial in nature, and therefore it

ought to be liberally construed to give effect to the legislature's express intent.¹

The legislative intent, as divined by the Second District, was:

to fully compensate the injured party while simultaneously reducing the litigation costs that arise when insurers are required to pay damages beyond what the injured party actually incurred. . . . The allowance of such a windfall completely undermines the purpose of the Act by requiring insurers to pay damages based on a billing fiction, especially when the insurers will be sure to pass the cost for these phantom damages on to Floridians.

Goble v. Frohman, 848 So.2d 406, 410 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003). Second, the court concluded that regardless of whether a strict or liberal interpretation were employed, the contractual discounts were "payments made to the claimant, or made on the claimant's behalf," within the statute's meaning.² The court distinguished *D'Angelo v. Fitzmaurice*, 832 So.2d 135 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002), *review granted*, (Fla.

¹ Goble v. Frohman, 848 So.2d 406, 410 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003).

 $^{^{2}}$ *Id.* at 409.

May 15, 2003), which held that a defendant was not entitled to the setoff of a settlement with a hospital for the forgiveness of an outstanding bill and cash, on the basis that under Section 768.76(2)(a), a settlement with a co-defendant was not a "collateral source" of indemnity.³ The court went on to observe that because in the instant case, "remittance of the discounted amount [by Aetna] discharged Goble's obligation to his medical providers for treatment,"⁴ and because the providers had no further right to reimbursement from Goble or from third parties, the contractual discounts constituted "payments." The court employed definitions of the term "payment" from *Webster's Third New International Dictionary* (1986) and from *Black's Law Dictionary* (7th ed. 1999) in support of its interpretation of the statutory language.

Plaintiff's apparent quarrel with the Second District's holding centers around his view that a "payment" may encompass only a transfer of cash. This interpretation ignores the language of Section 768.76(2)(a)(3), which includes as collateral sources contracts or agreements to *"provide, pay for, or reimburse* the costs of hospital, medical, dental or other health care services (emphasis added)." If a "payment" meant only a cash transfer, then why did the Legislature use all of this excess verbiage? Why didn't it just say "pay for," and leave it at that?

³ *Id*.

⁴ *Id*.

Plaintiff's argument depends on the adoption of a construction of the term "payment" that goes beyond "strict," and can best be described as "myopic." Plaintiff would have this Court throw out the dictionary definitions of the word, and apply an interpretation that would virtually emasculate the collateral source statute's remedial purpose. These arguments, and the others advanced by Plaintiff, will for this Court's and opposing counsel's convenience, be dealt with below in the order in which they appear in his brief.

A. The Certified Question Presented in This Appeal is Not One of Great Public Importance.

This case does not present an issue of the type sufficient to cause this Court to exercise its "absolute discretion"⁵ to review the Second District's decision. The question certified by the lower court is not one of "constitutional magnitude,"⁶ nor is the issue "one which is frequently raised but with inconsistent results by lower tribunals."⁷ There exists no conflict among the district courts of appeal, as the Second District is the only such court to have addressed the issue.⁸

The lower court's interpretation of Section 768.76, *Florida Statutes* (1999) did not involve "complex or difficult issues."⁹ Indeed, the Second District

⁵ Bradley v. State, 615 So.2d 854, 855 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993).

⁶ *Id*.

 $^{^{7}}$ Id.

⁸ State v. Irizarry, 698 So.2d 912, 913 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997).

⁹ Star Casualty v. U.S.A. Diagnostics, Inc., 855 So.2d 251, 252 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003), citing Everhart v. State, 559 So.2d 427 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990).

performed the singularly effortless task of correctly deciding what the word "payment" meant in the statutory context. In *Star Casualty v. U.S.A. Diagnostics, Inc.*, 855 So.2d 251, 252 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003), the court observed that no standard existed to guide a court in certifying a question. It went on to note, however, that:

one general guide is that a question should be certified where our decision will affect a large segment of the public *and* the extant decisional law may not coalesce around a single answer to the question posed.

Id. (emphasis added). The issue that confronted the lower court did not affect a large segment of the public; it just affected personal injury litigants. Also, there is no reason to believe that the extant decisional law surrounding Section 768.76 is such as to breed multiple, conflicting answers to the simple issues of whether a health insurance write-off is the equivalent of a "payment" within the statute's meaning, or of whether the statute should receive a strict or a liberal construction.

Plaintiff imagines a sinister cabal of insurers bent on delaying settlement so that personal injury claimants will incur more past medical specials which may be compensated at discounted rates rather than future medicals which must be paid at full value.¹⁰ Not only does this somewhat paranoid apprehension give insurers more credit than they probably deserve, but it also makes very little sense. The Second District's interpretation will drastically reduce the amounts that plaintiffs

¹⁰ Petitioner's brief at 12.

will be able to claim as special damages, thus lowering overall demands in personal injury claims and making them easier to settle.

Of course, these issues are very important to the Academy and to the FDLA,¹¹ because they are groups whose membership consists largely of attorneys practicing personal injury law. But because the issue is one of "great importance" to the trial bar does not mean that it is one of "great public importance."¹²

B. A Healthcare Provider's Contractual Write-offs or Discounts Fit Within the Plain Meaning of the Statutory Definition of "Collateral Sources."

Although Plaintiff cites *Rollins v. Pizzarelli*, 761 So.2d 294 (Fla. 2000), for the proposition that a statute must be given its plain and obvious meaning, without resort to rules of interpretation and construction,¹³ he goes on to ignore the ordinary, dictionary meanings of the word "payment,"¹⁴ as recognized by the Second District.¹⁵ If an intercessor, contractually bound to indemnify a debtor for his obligation to a creditor of \$50.00, were to persuade the creditor to accept \$49.00 in satisfaction of the indebtedness, would not the tender of the \$49.00 by the indemnitor, and the acceptance of that amount by the obligee, constitute "payment" of the obligation? The obligation has been completely satisfied. The

¹¹ *Id*.

¹² Fla. R. App. P. 9.130(a)(2)(A)(v).

¹³ Petitioner's Brief at 13.

¹⁴ "[*P*]ayments made to the claimant, or on the claimant's behalf," § 768.76(2)(a)(3), *Florida Statutes* (1999) (emphasis added).

¹⁵ 848 So.2d at 409.

obligation no longer exists, and despite the fact that the indemnitor did not remit the full \$50.00 owed to the creditor, no one would seriously argue that the debt had not been paid.

Plaintiff suggests¹⁶ that the adjustments contractually negotiated on his behalf by his HMO are not really payments, but instead are "payments not made," or "payments made . . . by the healthcare provider," rather than *to* the healthcare provider. This is just sophistry. However Plaintiff chooses to characterize it, the HMO's discharge of Plaintiff's obligation to his providers in return for a discounted amount is the literal equivalent of payment which, as noted by the Second District, is "more than the act of remitting money."¹⁷

The cases cited by Plaintiff belie his protestations that payment is restricted to the exchange of currency in satisfaction of a debt. In *Acuar v. Letourneau*, 260 Va. 180, 531 S.E. 2d 316 (2000),¹⁸ the Virginia Supreme Court addressed an analogous fact situation. The plaintiff's health care providers had written off certain amounts from his total costs of medical treatment, pursuant to agreements with his health insurance carriers.¹⁹ Virginia did not have a "collateral source" statute similar to Section 768.76. Therefore, the common-law collateral source

¹⁶ Petitioner's Brief at 14-15.

¹⁷ 848 So.2d at 409.

¹⁸ Petitioner's Brief at 28-29.

¹⁹ *Id.* at ____, 531 S.E. 2d at 183 n. 1.

rule was in effect.²⁰ In rejecting the argument by the defendant that the write-offs were *not* collateral sources, the court stated:

Acuar [defendant] cannot deduct from that full compensation any part of the benefits Letourneau [plaintiff] received from his contractual arrangement with his health insurance carrier, whether those benefits took the form of medical expense payments or amounts written off because of agreements between his health insurance carrier and his health care providers. Those amounts written off are as much of a benefit for which Letourneau paid consideration as are the actual cash payments made by his health insurance carrier to the health care providers. The portions of the medical expenses that the health care providers write off *constitute 'compensation or indemnity received by a tort victim from a source collateral to the tortfeasor*....' [citation omitted].

260 Va. at ____, 531 S.E. 2d at 322 (emphasis added). What is the difference between "payment" and "benefit?" Between "payment" and "compensation?" Between "payment" and "indemnity?" No matter how narrowly one chooses to define the term, it is inescapable that "payment," under the Virginia court's logic, encompasses adjustments, and that if Virginia had a statute like Section 768.76, an adjustment would have to be considered a "payment" by a "collateral source."

A similar interpretation is apparent in the Wisconsin Supreme Court's treatment of provider write-offs in *Koffman v. Leichtfuss*, 246 Wis. 2d 31, 630 N.W. 2d 201 (2001).²¹ Like Virginia, Wisconsin does not have a statute similar to Section 768.76, and the state adheres to the common-law collateral source rule. As

²⁰ *Id.* at ____, 531 S.E. 2d at 189.

²¹ Petitioner's Brief at 29-30.

in *Acuar*, the plaintiff's medical bills were adjusted by his providers pursuant to agreements with his insurers. Citing *Acuar* with approval,²² the Wisconsin court concluded that the collateral source rule required that the plaintiff be allowed to recover the full amount of the reasonable and necessary medical bills, saying:

the collateral source rule allows the plaintiff to seek recovery of the reasonable value of medical services without consideration . . . or payments made by outside sources on the plaintiff's behalf, including insurance payments. [citations omitted] Where the plaintiff's health care providers settle the plaintiff's medical bills with the plaintiff's insurers at reduced rates, the collateral source rule dictates that the defendanttortfeasor not receive the benefit of the written-off amounts.

Id. at ____, 630 N.W. 2d at 210 (emphasis added). Neither *Koffman* nor the instant case deals with medical services rendered gratuitously, without consideration. Instead, these are situations in which "health care providers settle[d] plaintiff's medical bills with the plaintiff's insurers at reduced rates," *Id.* The foregoing language makes it clear that the Wisconsin court considered such settlements to be a species of payment by a collateral source. Therefore, had Wisconsin enacted a statutory provision similar to Section 768.76, a result similar to that reached by the Second District would have accrued. *See also Hardi v. Mezzanotte*, 818 A. 2d 974, 984 (D.C. App. 2003) (citing *Acuar* with approval, in another common-law collateral source rule jurisdiction).

²² 246 Wis. at ____, 630 N.W. 2d at 210 n. 9.

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